Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-20-2017

Silverwing at Sandpoint, LLC v. Bonner County Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45052

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

In April 2007, real estate developer SilverWing at Sandpoint, LLC entered into a written agreement with Bonner County giving SilverWing "through-the-fence" access to Sandpoint Airport for an annual fee ("TTF Agreement"). The TTF Agreement states that it constitutes "the entire understanding of the parties concerning the subject of this Agreement" and that the Agreement "shall not be modified by either party by oral representation." (R. at PTE 76, ¶¶ 14(d), (i).)¹ SilverWing sued Bonner County under several inapplicable legal theories including under the narrow doctrine of promissory estoppel. (R. at p. 268.) SilverWing sought damages for relying on the County's "promise" that the runway would not move. Notwithstanding the fact that the runway has not moved and that promissory estoppel is merely a substitute for consideration, the district court allowed SilverWing's claim to proceed to trial. A jury awarded SilverWing \$250,000 on the theory of promissory estoppel and the district court later added \$764,363.32 in attorney's fees and costs. The district court denied the County's Motion for JNOV. This Court should reverse and dismiss the claim of promissory estoppel.

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

SilverWing filed its original complaint on May 11, 2012, in the First Judicial District of Idaho. (R. at p. 40.) After the County removed the action to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Idaho, SilverWing amended the complaint to add a claim of promissory

¹ The Clerk's Certificate of Exhibits (R. at p. 5951) attaches trial exhibits to the record under a separate document that is not contiguously paginated. Thus, this Brief will refer to Plaintiff's Trial Exhibits as "PTE" and Defendant's Trial Exhibits as "DTE" with the exhibit number following such designation. For example, "R. at PTE 76" refers to Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 76.

estoppel. (R. at p. 252.) The federal court dismissed SilverWing's three original claims and remanded the claim of promissory estoppel to the First Judicial District of Idaho.² (R. at p. 159.)

Although Bonner County moved for judgment on the pleadings (R. at p. 168) and summary judgment (R. at p. 220), the district court denied each of those motions (R. at p. 3053) and the case proceeded to trial.³ At trial, the district court excluded SilverWing's claim of lost profits. (Tr. at 1446:10-14). The jury returned a verdict awarding SilverWing \$250,000 in "out-of-pocket" damages on its promissory estoppel claim. (R. at p. 4903.) On December 1, 2016, the district court entered a judgment of \$250,000 against Bonner County. (R. at p. 4906.) On December 15, 2016, Bonner County filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict on several grounds. (R. at p. 4911.) On March 17, 2017, the district court denied Bonner County's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. (R. at p. 5727.)

On April 14, 2017, Bonner County timely filed its original Notice of Appeal. (R. at p. 5821.) On June 9, 2017, the District Court entered a second document titled "Judgment" making the determination that SilverWing is the prevailing party and awarding SilverWing \$764,363.32 in attorney's fees and costs. (R. at p. 5875.) On July 13, 2017, Bonner County filed its Amended Notice of Appeal.

² On November 1, 2017, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed the dismissal of SilverWing's three original claims. <u>SilverWing at Sandpoint, LLC v. Bonner Cty.</u>, 2017 U.S. App. LEXIS 21970 (9th Cir. Idaho Nov. 1, 2017).

³ Bonner County also counterclaimed against SilverWing for violating the TTF Agreement but the counterclaims are not the subject of this appeal.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Core Allegations of the Complaint

SilverWing's promissory estoppel claim alleges that "[i]n 2007, the County provided to SilverWing an ALP that reflected the existing location of the Airport's runway, and made no mention or reference to any plans for the runway to be moved. At the same time, the County promised that there were no plans regarding changes to runway location which would be incompatible with SilverWing's Development." (R. at p. 268, ¶ 85.) According to SilverWing, "SilverWing relied on the County's promise, that there were no plans to change the location of the Airport's runway, to its substantial economic detriment." (R. at p. 268, ¶ 86.)

2. Factual Background

In April 2006, SilverWing's former principal, John McKeown, purchased 18.1 acres of land on the border of Sandpoint Airport. (R. at PTE 8.) The property was then conveyed to a Delaware LLC formed on October 25, 2006,⁴ which ultimately merged into SilverWing. (R. at PTE 26 and 102.) From the outset, SilverWing planned to construct hangar-homes for residents who wish to park their aircraft in their home garage. (Tr. at 271:4-272:5.)

On the day that it was formed, SilverWing hired Clearwater Engineering (R. at PTE 33), which subcontracted with ES Engineering (R. at PTE 36) to plan the hangar-home development. At the time, Sandpoint Airport was in the process of updating its Master Plan and ALP to abandon the existing plan to relocate the runway, known as Alternative 4 (R. at DTE F47), in

⁴ At trial, SilverWing was precluded by an order of the court from presenting evidence or argument that (1) the County made any promise prior to October 25, 2006, or (2) SilverWing relied on any promise prior to October 25, 2006. (R. at p. 4611-4612.)

favor of a plan to keep the runway in its current location and relocate the west-side taxiway, known as Alternative 2(B) (R. at DTE A35). (Tr. at 704:22-706:21.)

The unrebutted evidence at trial, including an email exchange between SilverWing's engineers at the very outset of the project (R. at DTE B9), demonstrated that SilverWing's engineers relied on communications with the FAA in determining that there were no plans to move the runway. (Tr. at 706:4-707:15.) Specifically, Corrie Esvelt-Siegford of ES Engineering emailed Debbie Van Dyk of Clearwater Engineering on November 3, 2006 stating "No Runway relocation – as far as Trang [Tran] knows." (R. at DTE B9, p. 1.) Trang Tran was the civil engineer at the FAA assigned to Sandpoint Airport. (Tr. at 734:1-14.) SilverWing's engineers concluded based on their conversation with Trang Tran that the runway would not be moved. (Tr. at 704:9-11; R. at DTE B9, p. 1.)

Ms. Esvelt-Siegford testified at trial that "the decision was made" that day, November 3, 2006, to develop the property based on the ALP depicting Alternative 2(B). (Tr. at 807:1-5; see also 804:25-805 [the November 3, 2006 decision was made in reliance on the FAA].) SilverWing failed to present evidence of any reliance on County promises during the nine day period between the date SilverWing was formed (October 25, 2006) and the date SilverWing decided to proceed using Alternative 2(B). (Id.; see also R. at p. 4611-4612.)

On or about January 8, 2007 SilverWing filed Conditional Use Permit ("CUP") (R. at PTE 56) and Planned Unit Development ("PUD") (R. at PTE 58) applications (collectively "Applications") with the City of Sandpoint. In support of its Applications, SilverWing stated, among other things, "[t]he airpark is designed to match surrounding airport related uses. It

follows the Airport's master plan design by locating the parallel taxiway in accordance with the plan." (R. at PTE 58.) In order to obtain City approval of its Applications, SilverWing was required to comply with applicable City Zoning Codes, which includes Sandpoint City Zoning Code, Chapter 12, Airport Overlay Zone District, § 9-12-3. (R. at DTE H42A.) That section states, in pertinent part:

In order to carry out the provisions of this chapter, there are hereby created and established certain zones for existing and future planned airport conditions as they apply to Sandpoint Airport. . . Such zones are shown on the approved Sandpoint airport master plan 1993-2013, as amended from time to time, which by this reference is incorporated and made a part hereof as if set forth in full.

(R. at DTE H42A.) SilverWing's engineers knew that it was "risky" to design the development based on an unapproved ALP showing Alternative 2(B) (Tr. at 804:17-805:5) but they relied on their discussions with the FAA and moved forward without waiting for the updated Master Plan. (Tr. at 807:1-5; R. at DTE B9.)

John McKeown testified at trial that on December 11, 2006, he met at a restaurant with the part-time airport manager Jorge O'Leary and volunteer members of the airport advisory board, who gave him "assurances" that the planned location of SilverWing's taxiway (partially on Airport property) had been approved by the FAA. (Tr. at 321:6-332:22.) McKeown testified that he was promised several things by several people:

Question: First, clarifying. You've alleged certain promises that were made by the County, and one of them is that Bonner County told you the existing location of the runway was the alternative upon which SilverWing could base its plan for development. Is that a correct statement?

Answer [by John McKeown]: True.

Q: Can you tell us again who specifically at Bonner County told you that?

A: Well, I think the bigger question is who didn't. You know, Jorge O'Leary, the airport manager, the airport County -- the County Airport Board, the commissioners when they signed the Through the Fence Agreement with the Attachment that showed where the taxiway was going.

(Tr. at 427:21-428:1.)

In support of McKeown's testimony that the Bonner County Board of Commissioners had made these promises, SilverWing introduced Exhibit A to the TTF Agreement, which was a map depicting the planned location of SilverWing's taxiway based on the non-movement of the runway. (Tr. at 380:12-381:14; R. at PTE 76, Ex. A.) According to McKeown, the TTF Agreement entered into between SilverWing and the County in April 2007 did not just encompass the issue of SilverWing's access to the Airport, but also included promises regarding the proper configuration of SilverWing's development. (Tr. at 427:12-428:1.)

The TTF Agreement also contained the following clauses:

- d. Modification. This Agreement shall not be modified by either party by oral representation made before or after the execution of this Agreement. All modifications must be in writing and signed by the parties....
- i. All negotiations are merged into this Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties concerning the subject of this Agreement. This Agreement shall constitute a binding obligation between the parties and shall be applicable beyond the term of this Agreement.

(R. at PTE 76, \P ¶ 14(d), (i).)

McKeown admitted that no promises were made to SilverWing *after* SilverWing entered into the TTF Agreement. (Tr. at 453:2-454:23.) "Exhibit A" to the TTF Agreement shows the runway and taxiway in the locations contemplated by ALP Alternative 2(B):

Exhibit A

(R. at PTE 76, Ex. A.) McKeown understood that the TTF Agreement constituted "the entire understanding of the parties" at the time that he signed it. (Tr. at 454:16-454:23.)

On May 3, 2007, the FAA sent a letter in response to SilverWing's plans stating "we have no objection to the proposed development, provided that the TTF Agreement between Sandpoint Airport and SilverWings [sic] at Sandpoint LLC is approved by our office." (R. at PTE 84.) However, the FAA stated its position that "residential use adjacent to a public airport is considered an incompatible land use and the airport should not encourage or participate in permitting such development." (R. at PTE 84.) SilverWing's Engineer Corrie Esvelt-Siegford testified that this communication from the FAA raised a "red flag." (Tr. at 767:22-768:1.)

In December 2008, the FAA put the Airport on "noncompliance" status for regulatory issues arising from SilverWing's development. (R. at PTE 109.)⁵ On March 25, 2009, the FAA rejected Bonner County's 2006 Proposed ALP which was aimed at maintaining the runway in its current position. (R. at PTE 114.)

Notwithstanding the FAA's noncompliance determination, SilverWing was never required to move its taxiway or alter its development because the runway was never moved. (Tr. at 471:17-472:3.) Additionally, all of the regulatory issues were ultimately resolved. In 2012, Congress enacted the FAA Modernization and Reform Act of 2012, Pub. L. 112-95 ("FMRA"), § 136. FMRA § 136 allows existing residential developments with TTF access (including

_

⁵ In January, 2009, Bonner County implemented a Corrective Action Plan ("CAP") which sought, at the FAA's explicit direction, to: (1) "pursue[] all avenues to extinguish the perpetual nature of the Silver Wings [sic] TTF easement;" and (2) "pursue[] an amendment to the Silver Wings [sic] and Quest TTF agreements to require access only to the end of the runway [because] midfield access is unacceptable from a safety perspective." (R. at PTE 110.) However, the federal district court held that the CAP could not serve as a basis for liability in this case under federal preemption doctrine. (R. at p. 293.) To the extent SilverWing relies on the CAP to establish liability, its claim is preempted. (R. at p. 293.)

SilverWing). (Tr. at 1032:12-1033:24.) And on May 27, 2015, the FAA officially signed a new ALP approving the current physical configuration for Sandpoint Airport, including an approved layout that is in complete conformity with the SilverWing development as built. (R. at p. 768-785; Tr. at 1262:6-1263:6.)

At trial, the court determined that SilverWing had failed to present sufficient evidence to show that it had lost any profits as a result of these events. (Tr. at 1446:10-14 [excluding SilverWing's lost profits claim as speculative].) Although SilverWing introduced additional evidence regarding the out-of-pocket expenses associated with grading and building its taxiway and model home, SilverWing still owns and uses those items.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the district court erred in denying the County's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (R. at p. 4911-4982) on any of the twelve grounds stated therein.
- 2. Whether the district court erred in its determination that SilverWing's promissory estoppel claim arises from a "commercial transaction" entitling SilverWing to \$486,337.03 in attorney's fees under I.C. §12-120(3), or, in the alternative, whether such a finding requires reversal of the judgment below since promissory estoppel does not apply where there is an exchange of consideration.
- 3. Whether the district court's award of prevailing party attorney's fees and costs to SilverWing should be reversed following a reversal of the underlying judgment on the merits, and whether such reversal would entitle Bonner County to prevailing party fees and costs.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is reviewed de novo. Kuhn v. Coldwell Banker Landmark, Inc., 150 Idaho 240, 246, 245 P.3d 992, 998-999 (2010). "Our task on appeal of an order denying a motion for [JNOV] is the same as that of the trial judge is when he or he considers the motion. Whether the trial court should have entered a judgment notwithstanding the verdict is purely a question of law." Id. (citing Schwan's Sales Enters., Inc. v. Idaho Transp. Dep't, 142 Idaho 826, 830, 136 P.3d 297, 301 (2006)). "A motion for judgment n.o.v. based on I.R.C.P. 50(b) is treated as simply a delayed motion for a directed verdict and the standard for both is the same." Quick v. Crane, 111 Idaho 759, 763-764, 727 P.2d 1187, 1191-92 (1986). "Whether a verdict should be directed, as noted above, is purely a question of law and on those questions, the parties are entitled to full review by the appellate court without special deference to the views of the trial court." Id.

The function of a JNOV is to give the trial court the last opportunity to order the judgment that the law requires. Quick, 111 Idaho at 764, 727 P.2d at 1192. Under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 50(b), the issue to be determined on a motion for JNOV is whether substantial evidence supports the jury's verdict. Lanham v. Idaho Power Co., 130 Idaho 486, 495, 943 P.2d 912, 921 (1997).

Generally speaking, the district court's decision to award attorney's fees is discretionary, subject to the abuse of discretion standard of review. <u>Bailey v. Sanford</u>, 139 Idaho 744, 753, 86 P.3d 458, 467 (2004). To determine whether the district court abused its discretion, this Court considers: (1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2)

whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. Nampa Charter School, Inc. v. DeLaPaz, 140 Idaho 23, 29, 89 P.3d 863, 869 (2004).

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court recently restated the rule that "[p]romissory estoppel is a substitute for consideration." Nicholson v. Coeur D'Alene Placer Mining Corp., 161 Idaho 877, 883, 392 P.3d 1218, 1224 (2017). Unfortunately, litigants routinely misunderstand the narrow function of promissory estoppel.⁶ Generally speaking, the doctrine of promissory estoppel means that a

⁶ See, e.g., Bank of Commerce v. Jefferson Enters., LLC, 154 Idaho 824, 303 P.3d 183 (2013) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed under Statute of Frauds); Black Canyon Racquetball Club, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat'l Bank, N.A., 119 Idaho 171, 804 P.2d 900 (1991) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because there was no definite agreement); Gilbert v. Caldwell, 112 Idaho 386, 732 P.2d 355 (Idaho Ct. App. 1987) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because no reliance and general comments not being contractual commitments); Gillespie v. Mt. Park Estates, 138 Idaho 27, 56 P. 3d 1277 (2002) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because written agreement creates presumption of consideration); Grover v. Wadsworth, 147 Idaho 60, 205 P.3d 1196 (2009) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because no underlying promise); Idaho Wool Growers Ass'n v. State, 154 Idaho 716, 302 P.3d 341 (2012) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because of lack of promise); Lettunich v. Key Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 141 Idaho 362, 109 P.3d 1104 (2005) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because there was evidence of adequate consideration); Profits Plus Capital Mgmt., LLC v. Podesta, 156 Idaho 873, 332 P.3d 785 (2014) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because of evidence of adequate consideration); Smith v. Boise Kenworth Sales, Inc., 102 Idaho 63, 625 P.2d 417 (1981) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because of lack of agreement between the parties); Zollinger v. Carrol, 137 Idaho 397, 49 P.3d 402 (2002) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because of lack of promise); Wandering Trails, LLC v. Big Bite Excavation, Inc., 156 Idaho 586, 329 P.3d 368 (2014) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because there was adequate consideration); Chapin v. Linden, 144 Idaho 393, 162 P.2d 772 (2007) (promissory estoppel properly dismissed because of lack of agreement); Brown v. Caldwell Sch. Dist. No. 132, 127 Idaho 112, 898 P.2d 43 (1995) (promissory estoppel properly

"'promise which the promisor should reasonably expect to induce action or forbearance on the part of the promisee or a third person and which does induce such action or forbearance is binding if injustice can be avoided only by enforcement of the promise." Bank of Commerce, supra, 154 Idaho at 834-835, 303 P.3d at 193-194 (quoting Smith, supra, 102 Idaho at 67-68, 625 P.2d at 421-22 (citing Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 90(1) (1973))). This Court has stated the additional requirements that: (1) the reliance on the promise must create a "substantial economic detriment," (2) the reliance "was or should have been foreseeable," by the promisor, and (3) the reliance was "reasonable and justified." Grover, supra, 147 Idaho at 64, 205 P.3d at 1200.

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE COUNTY'S MOTION FOR JNOV BECAUSE THE PARTIES EXCHANGED MUTUAL CONSIDERATION UNDER THE TTF AGREEMENT.

Since promissory estoppel is simply a substitute for consideration, it does not apply where there is evidence of a mutual exchange of consideration between the parties. Lettunich, supra, 141 Idaho at 367-368, 109 P.3d at 1109-1110 ("The doctrine of promissory estoppel is of no consequence in this case because there is evidence of adequate consideration."); see also Zollinger, supra, 137 Idaho at 400, 49 P.3d at 405 (holding that where there is an exchange of mutual promises, there is no lack of consideration). Further, Promissory estoppel is an equitable doctrine. C. H. Leavell & Co. v. Grafe & Assocs., 90 Idaho 502 (Idaho 1966). When parties

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