Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-6-2018

Silverwing at Sandpoint, LLC v. Bonner County Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45052

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

B. The District Court Properly Awarded SilverWing Attorney Fees on its Promissory Estoppel Claim Under Idaho Code § 12-120(3).

The County appeals the district court's award of \$486,337.03 in fees to SilverWing under Idaho Code § 12-120(3), asserting SilverWing's promissory estoppel claim did not arise from a commercial transaction. The County's argument is unsupported by Idaho law and the facts of the case. As the district court held, "a commercial transaction is the gravamen of Plaintiff's promissory estoppel claim" and "served as the basis for Plaintiff's claim." R. at 5852.

Idaho Code § 12-120(3) provides that "in any civil action to recover on . . . any commercial transaction unless otherwise provided by law, the prevailing party shall be allowed a reasonable attorney's fee . . ." A "commercial transaction" is defined by the Idaho Code as "all transactions except transactions for personal or household purposes." I.C. § 12-120(3); see also Stevens v. Eyer, 161 Idaho 407, 412, 387 P.3d 75, 80 (2016) (quoting Dictionary.com, which defines the adjective "commercial" to mean "prepared, done, or acting with sole or chief emphasis on salability, profit, or success" or "able to yield or make a profit.").

"Thus, whether a party can recover attorney fees under Idaho Code Section 12-120(3) depends on whether the gravamen of a claim is a commercial transaction." *Sims v. Jacobson*, 157 Idaho 980, 985, 342 P.3d 907, 912 (2015). "A gravamen is 'the material or significant part of a grievance or complaint." *Id.* "[C]ourts analyze the gravamen claim by claim." *Id.* "To determine whether the significant part of a claim is a commercial transaction, the court must analyze whether a commercial transaction (1) is integral to the claim and (2) constitutes the basis of the party's theory of recovery on that claim." *Id.* In addition, "each party to the transaction

must enter the transaction for a commercial purpose." Carrillo v. Boise Tire Co., 152 Idaho 741, 756, 274 P.3d 1256, 1271 (2012).

While no Idaho case specifically addresses whether a claim for promissory estoppel may be the basis for an award of attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-120(3), the authority to do so is apparent. This Court has given broad meaning to the term "transaction" and, importantly, has held that "Idaho Code § 12-120(3) does not require that there be a contract between the parties before the statute is applied; the statute only requires that there be a commercial transaction." Univ. of Idaho Found., Inc. v. Civic Partners, Inc., 146 Idaho 527, 541, 199 P.3d 102, 116 (2008). "Where a party alleges the existence of a contractual relationship of a type embraced by section 12–120(3) . . . that claim triggers the application of the statute." Idaho Transp. Dep't., 159 Idaho at 141, 357 P.3d at 866. The Court's inquiry under Idaho Code § 12-120(3), therefore, focuses on the nature of the claim and on the allegations rather than on the stated cause of action.

The County cites to *Brower v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours & Co.*, 117 Idaho 780, 792 P.2d 345 (1990), as support for its argument that SilverWing's promissory estoppel claim did not arise out of a commercial transaction. Appellant Br. at 39. In *Brower*, the plaintiff sued the manufacturer (DuPont) of an experimental herbicide that plaintiff purchased from a third party. The herbicide damaged the plaintiff's crops, and he sued DuPont for fraud, alleging its representations induced his reliance, causing him to purchase and apply the herbicide to his land, resulting in damages. Defendant DuPont prevailed on a statute of limitations defense, and the district court awarded it attorney fees. This Court reversed on appeal, concluding:

The only commercial transaction involved is the purchase by

Brower of the DuPont chemicals from a local co-op. If there is any contract involved in this case it is not a contract surrounding that purchase, but one that might have been implied from the facts surrounding the relationship between DuPont and Brower. We cannot say that this case revolves around a commercial transaction sufficient to implicate the terms of I.C. § 12–120(3).

Brower, 117 Idaho at 784, 792 P.2d at 349.

This Court recently distinguished *Brower* in *Bryan Trucking, Inc. v. Gier*, 160 Idaho 422, 374 P.3d 585 (2016). In *Bryan Trucking*, plaintiff Bryan Trucking alleged he purchased a commercial truck based on representations made by Terry Gier (Gier), a third party whose company (Gier Jammer's Diesel Repair, LLC) had serviced the truck. Because Gier and his company had overhauled the truck's motor and performed other maintenance, Gier, acting as an agent for the seller (Ring), was "able to answer numerous questions Bryan posed about the truck." *Id.* at 424, 374 P.3d at 587. The truck later experienced mechanical problems, and Bryan Trucking incurred damages for its repair. *Id.* Bryan Trucking sued both the seller (Ring) and Gier for fraud and asserted contract-based claims against the seller. *Id.* All the claims were dismissed pursuant to stipulation of the parties. *Id.* Thereafter, the district court awarded Gier \$26,496.66 for his attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-120(3). The relevant issue on appeal was whether a commercial transaction supported an award of attorney fees to Gier. *Id.* The court reasoned that although Gier was not a party to the sale contract or a named defendant on other claims, plaintiff Bryan Trucking did allege "that Gier was a party to the commercial transaction"

⁹ Justice Eismann clarified that I.C. § 12-120(3) "does not require an action to recover *on* a commercial transaction. It requires that the claim be an action to recover in a commercial transaction." *Bryan Trucking*, 160 Idaho at 428, 374 P.3d at 591.

when it alleged that Gier was Ring's agent, had defrauded Bryan Trucking, and owed Bryan Trucking a duty." *Id.* at 426, 374 P.3d at 589.

Likewise, in this case, the basis of SilverWing's promissory estoppel claim is a commercial transaction. The County's promises, on which SilverWing relied, related to the SilverWing Development, including its taxiway, adjacent to the Airport. In addition, both parties had a commercial purpose in their transaction. SilverWing relied on the County's promises in developing its commercial hangar home project, and the County made promises to SilverWing for a commercial purpose, i.e., the potential to obtain increased tax revenue and jobs for the County. Sol Pusey ("Pusey"), a former member of the Airport Board, testified at trial that the Airport Board was "excited" about SilverWing's plans to build its taxiway in the location consistent with ALP Alternative 2(B) because it would "make the airport better," and SilverWing would generate "about three quarters of a million dollars a year in tax revenue to the County/City. And that would take care of a lot of our funding problems." Trial Tr. at 501:24-502:15; see also R. Exh. at 395 (Defendant Exh. C49) (emphasis added) (Pusey testified "the Airport Board approved the Westside taxiway and Silverwings because it would improve the airport and bring jobs and visitors to Bonner County."); Trial Tr. at 509:3-10. This is consistent with McKeown's testimony that, on December 11, 2007, the Airport Board told him that building SilverWing's taxiway in accord with the layout of Alternative 2(B) "was important to them to spur that growth on the side of the runway." Trial Tr. at 332:14-18 (emphasis added). Together, this testimony provides substantial evidence to confirm the County had a commercial purpose in making promises to SilverWing concerning its Development; namely to bring increased tax revenue and jobs, improve the Airport, and spur growth on the west side of the runway. *See Stevens*, 161 Idaho at 412, 387 P.3d at 80 (stating "commercial" means "prepared, done, or acting with sole or chief emphasis on salability, profit, or success". . . .).

The County asserts that any "value" received for its promises would equal consideration and, thus, negate SilverWing's claim for promissory estoppel. Appellant Br. at 40. While the County certainly hoped the Development would increase growth, jobs and tax revenues, SilverWing did not offer growth, jobs and tax revenues as "consideration" for the promises made by the County. Moreover, the County did not receive consideration for its promises under the TTFA because the County's promises were unrelated to the subject matter of the TTFA. See Section IV.A.1, supra; see also R. at 5852 (district court disagreeing with County's consideration argument and stating, "[w]here there is consideration for a contract between parties regarding airport access for a few, that consideration (and contract) is not related enough to promises regarding the location and composition of development property such that the promising party can shield itself from liability.").

As aptly summarized by the district court:

Here, there is a commercial transaction that comprises the gravamen of the promissory estoppel claim. To begin, there is no dispute that Plaintiff and Defendant were parties in a contractual relationship with respect to the TTFA. The terms of the TTFA controlled access between Plaintiff's air hangar-home development and Defendant's airport. The evidence admitted at trial showed that Plaintiff and Defendant were motivated by the desire for profit and growth. Before and after the execution of the TTFA, Defendant's agent made promises to Plaintiff about where the runway and taxiway should be. Plaintiff reasonably relied on those promises to its detriment. Defendant's promises and Plaintiff's subsequent

reliance comprise the commercial transaction.

The commercial transaction, and commercial relationship between the parties, is integral to Plaintiff's promissory estoppel claim. Without the TTFA, and corresponding development, the parties would never have been in a position to make promises to one another about ancillary matters that would have foreseeably induced detrimental reliance.

The parties entered the transaction for a commercial purpose. Plaintiff relied on Defendant's promises in developing its commercial hangar-home project, tacitly to facilitate its completion. Defendant made the promise to Plaintiff for a commercial purpose; Defendant's commercial purpose was the pecuniary benefits of increased tax revenue, approximately \$750,000.00 a year. Accordingly, the Court holds that a commercial transaction is the gravamen of Plaintiff's promissory estoppel claim and that it served as the basis for Plaintiff's claim.

R. at 5852 (internal citation omitted) (emphasis added). This decision is sound and should be affirmed.

C. The County is Not Entitled to An Award of Its Fees.

Despite the fact that the jury rendered a verdict entirely in SilverWing's favor and that Judge Christensen methodically considered and reviewed all of the same arguments presented by the County herein to conclude that SilverWing's promissory estoppel claim was well founded, the County asserts that it is entitled to an award of its attorney fees and costs in the trial below pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-117. The County's request is premised on the condition that this Court reverse the judgment below. Appellant Br. at 41. Regardless of whether this Court reverses or affirms the judgment below, there is no basis for an award of fees and costs to the County pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-117. There is simply no evidence for this Court to conclude that SilverWing "acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law" or that it "brought, pursued or

defended frivolously, unreasonably or without foundation" its successful promissory estoppel claim. See Coeur d'Alene Tribe v. Denney, 161 Idaho 508, 387 P.3d 761, 778–79 (2015); City of Osburn v. Randel, 152 Idaho 906, 908, 277 P.3d 353, 355 (2012).

The County's secondary basis for a request of attorney fees is equally unavailing. The County claims it is entitled to its fees under the TTFA because SilverWing's promissory estoppel claim is "based, at least in part, on Exhibit A to the TTF[A]." Appellant Br. at 41-42. As demonstrated above in Section IV.A.1, *supra*, the promises that form the basis of SilverWing's successful promissory estoppel claim against the County are not encompassed within the TTFA. Accordingly, this Court—like the district court—should reject the County's argument on this point and decline to award it fees and costs at trial and in these proceedings.

V. OBJECTION TO SCOPE OF AMICUS BRIEF

This Court, as a matter of first impression, recently held that it "will not consider arguments advanced by *amicus curiae* which have not been raised by the parties." *Schweitzer Basin Water Co. v. Schweitzer Fire Dist.*, No. 44249, 2017 WL 5710684, at *2–3, ____ P.3d___ (Idaho Nov. 28, 2017). This follows United States Supreme Court precedent establishing that arguments not raised by the parties or considered by lower courts will not be considered on appeal. *See, e.g., F.T.C. v. Phoebe Putney Health Sys., Inc.*, 568 U.S. 216, 226 n.4, 133 S.Ct. 1003, 185 L.Ed.2d 43 (2013) (when asked by an *amicus curiae* to consider an argument not raised directly by the parties, the Court refused, stating "Because this argument was not raised by the parties or passed on by the lower courts, we do not consider it"); *Watkins Co., LLC v. Estate of Storms*, 161 Idaho 683, 685, 390 P.3d 409, 411 (2017) ("This Court will not consider issues

raised for the first time on appeal"). "An amicus must take a case as he finds it without attempting to inject new issues or to tailor the case to suit his needs." *Blackburn v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 108 Idaho 85, 90, 697 P.2d 425, 430 (1985) (citing *Bogert v. Kinzer*, 93 Idaho 515, 517-18, 465 P.2d 639, 641-42 (1970)).

Here, Amicus improperly goes beyond the arguments and issued raised by the County in two ways. First, Amicus challenges numerous jury instructions either given or requested and refused by the district court. Amicus Br. at 32 ("at trial the jury should have been instructed as to how a binding obligation can be made by a county"); 33 ("the District Court erred in failing to instruct the jury as to" statements made by the County outside a duly noticed Open Meeting); 37-39 ("The District Court failed to properly instruct the jury as to how a county can lawfully enter into a binding agreement"); 40 (the district court erred in rejecting Jury Instruction No. 67). Although the County had the opportunity to (and did) object to all of the jury instructions offered or given and request additional instructions that it deemed appropriate (Trial Tr. at 1448-1475), the County did not appeal the district court's ruling on any jury instruction nor has the County addressed jury instructions in its Appellant's Brief. As such, the County cannot object to any jury instruction either given or offered and refused for the first time in its Reply Brief or at oral argument. Suitts v. Nix, 141 Idaho 706, 708, 117 P.3d 120, 122 (2005) ("A reviewing court looks only to the initial brief on appeal for the issues presented because those are the arguments and authority to which the respondent has an opportunity to respond in the respondent's brief'). And, correspondingly, this Court should not consider Amicus' objections and arguments related to any jury instruction used or refused by the district court. Bogert, 93 Idaho at 517-18, 465 P.2d

at 641-42. See also Oregon Shortline R.R. Co. v. City of Chubbuck, 93 Idaho 815, 817, 474 P.2d 244, 246 (1970) (questions not raised by the pleadings nor argued or decided by the lower court "will not be considered for the first time on appeal").

Second, *Amicus* offers arguments about FAA preemption. Amicus Br. at 35-36, 40. This Court did not grant *Amicus*—an association of counties—permission to appear in this case to provide the Court with FAA expertise. Nor does it have any. More importantly, while the County made federal preemption arguments below, it did not appeal this issue or raise it in its Appellant's Brief. Accordingly, this Court should decline to consider *Amicus*' federal preemption argument. *See Schweitzer Basin Water Co.*, 2017 WL 5710684, at *2–3 (Court "will not consider arguments advanced by *amicus curiae* which have not been raised by the parties"). ¹⁰

VI. SILVERWING IS ENTITLED TO ITS ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

SilverWing seeks costs and attorney fees on appeal as authorized by I.A.R. 40 and I.A.R. 41. Pursuant to I.A.R. 41(a), SilverWing has designated the award of attorney fees on appeal as an issue on appeal. SilverWing bases its claim for fees on Idaho Code § 12-120(3) as the prevailing party in a commercial transaction, which applies with equal measure at trial and on appeal. See Idaho Transp. Dep't., 159 Idaho at 142, 357 P.3d at 867 ("When a party prevails at both trial and on appeal, and that party received an award of attorney fees under Idaho Code section 12-120(3) at the trial level and the award is affirmed on appeal, that party is also entitled to an award of attorney fees for the appeal pursuant to Idaho Code section 12-120(3)").

¹⁰ Amicus also appears to address arguments concerning the County's motion for summary judgment and motion for judgment on the pleadings. Amicus Br. at 13-15. However, the County has only appealed the decision on its JNOV Motion.

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